Joiner, Thomas E, Jr;Brown, Jessica S;Wingate, LaRicka R Annual Review of Psychology; 2005; 56, ProQuest Central pg. 287

> Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2005. 56:287–314 doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.56.091103.070320 Copyright © 2005 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved First published online as a Review in Advance on September 10, 2004

The Psychology and Neurobiology of Suicidal Behavior

Thomas E. Joiner Jr., Jessica S. Brown, and LaRicka R. Wingate

Psychology Department, Florida State University, Tallahassee, Florida 32306-1270; email: joiner@psy.fsu.edu, brown@psy.fsu.edu, wingate@psy.fsu.edu

Key Words genetics, serotonergic dysregulation, psychological risk

■ Abstract Suicide is a leading cause of death, but it is not well understood or well researched. Our purpose in this review is to summarize extant knowledge on neurobiological and psychological factors involved in suicide, with specific goals of identifying areas particularly in need of future research and of articulating an initial agenda that may guide future research. We conclude that from both neurobiological and psychological perspectives, extant research findings converge on the view that two general categories of risk for suicide can be identified: (*a*) dysregulated impulse control; and (*b*) propensity to intense psychological pain (e.g., social isolation, hopelessness), often in the context of mental disorders, especially mood disorders. Each of these categories of risk is underlain at least to some degree by specific genetic and neurobiological factors; these factors in general are not well characterized, though there is emerging consensus that most if not all reside in or affect the serotonergic system. We encourage future theorizing that is conceptually precise, as well as epistemically broad, about the specific preconditions of serious suicidal behavior, explaining the daunting array of suicide-related facts from the molecular to the cultural level.

CONTENTS

THE NEUROBIOLOGY OF SUICIDAL BEHAVIOR	. 288
Family History and Genetics	. 288
Abnormalities in the Serotonergic System	
Other Brain Systems	. 294
PSYCHOLOGICAL AND CLINICAL RISK FACTORS	
FOR SUICIDALITY	
Mental Disorders	. 295
Hopelessness	. 301
Social Isolation	. 301
Impulsivity and Aggression	. 303
Ineffectiveness	
CONCLUSIONS	. 304

0066-4308/05/0203-0287\$14.00

287

THE NEUROBIOLOGY OF SUICIDAL BEHAVIOR

Of the leading causes of death, there is little doubt that suicide is the least well understood and the least well researched. It is the cause of death for more than half a million people a year worldwide, and agonizes many more. Our purpose in this review is to summarize extant knowledge on neurobiological and psychological factors involved in suicide, with specific goals of identifying areas particularly in need of future research and of articulating an initial agenda that may guide future research.

Family History and Genetics

ł

TWIN STUDIES Initial studies attempting to determine the genetic contribution to suicidal behavior were conducted with twin samples. Roy (1992) reviewed four of the early twin studies and found that overall, 13.2% of the monozygotic (MZ) twin pairs were concordant for death by suicide as compared to only 0.7% of the dizygotic (DZ) twin pairs, a significant difference. Roy & Segal (2001) conducted two more twin studies and summed those with the previous four to find a MZ concordance rate of 18.5%, as compared to a DZ concordance rate of 0.7%.

With such studies having clearly indicated that there is some genetic component to suicidality, more recent studies have sought to clarify the role of genetics in suicide by evaluating variables that may account for this association. One study assessed 3401 female twins in Missouri, and identified a concordance rate for suicide attempts of 25% for MZ twins and 12.8% for DZ twins. Based on these results, they estimated the additive genetic effects to be 48%, the unique environmental factors to be 44%, and shared environmental effects to be 8% of the contribution to suicide attempts. When controlling for other psychopathology, they found major depression, childhood physical abuse, social phobia, African-American ethnicity, alcohol dependence, and conduct disorder to be significant predictors of suicide attempts, whereas alcohol abuse, generalized anxiety disorder, simple phobia, and parental education did not predict suicide attempts (Glowinski et al. 2001).

A similar study conducted on 5995 adult twins in Australia yielded similar results. This study examined three categories: the presence of suicidal thoughts; persistent thoughts of suicide, a plan to commit suicide, or a minor suicide attempt; and serious suicide attempts. In all categories, concordance was higher for MZ than for DZ twins. In comparison to the earlier studies, the concordance rates for serious attempts were 23.1% in MZ twins and 0% in DZ twins. Estimates of heritability of these types of suicidality were 43% for any ideation, 44% for persistent thoughts/plan/minor attempt, and 55% for a serious attempt, comparable to the estimate of the prior study. When controlling for other psychopathology, a history of major depressive disorder, conduct disorder, alcohol dependence, and panic disorder, each increased risk of persistent thoughts/plan/minor attempt in both men and women. In women, risk of a serious attempt was increased by a history of major depressive disorder, panic disorder, social phobia, and childhood sexual abuse.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Risk of a serious attempt in men was increased by a history of major depressive disorder, conduct disorder, panic disorder, and childhood sexual abuse. However, when controlling for these psychiatric and psychosocial variables, the cotwin's history of suicidal thoughts was a significant predictor of both increased serious attempts and persistent thoughts/plan/minor attempts in MZ twins, indicating a genetic link to suicide beyond the contribution of mental illness (Statham et al. 1998). This is a key point about the relation of mental disorders to suicidality—mental disorders, though very important in understanding suicidality, do not fully explain it (and a simplistic view of the association between mental disorders and suicidality does not explain why most people with mental disorders do not attempt, or die by, suicide).

Finally, a study on 6744 adult male twins in Missouri also identified a similar pattern of results (Fu et al. 2002). This study examined suicidal ideation as well as suicide attempts and calculated a heritability estimate for suicide attempts of 30%, lower than the two prior studies. It identified nearly identical psychiatric risk factors: History of major depressive disorder, adult antisocial personality disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, panic disorder, and drug and alcohol dependence predicted both suicidal ideation and attempt when controlling for psychiatric history. Childhood conduct disorder was also a significant predictor of suicidal ideation, but unlike in the two prior studies, suicide attempts were not a significant predictor. Like the Statham et al. study (1998), the Fu et al. (2002) study also evaluated the role of cotwin ideation or attempt while controlling for other psychiatric and psychosocial risk factors. Here, too, genetic risk remained even when various mental disorders were controlled. Also, for MZ twins, risk of both suicidal ideation and attempt increased regardless of whether the cotwin endorsed ideation or attempt. However, in DZ twins, a more specific pattern emerged: A cotwin's suicidal ideation increased risk of ideation only, and a cotwin's suicidal attempt increased risk of attempt only. This suggests a broader effect on various forms of suicidality among MZ twins, and a more specific effect among DZ twins.

FAMILY STUDIES Further evidence of the role of genetics in suicide is shown through family studies. One early study (Egeland & Sussex 1985) examined the Old Order Amish over a 100-year period. During this time 26 people died by suicide, the majority of whom came from only four families. Interestingly, while these four families also had a high genetic loading for affective disorders, other families had a similarly high loading for affective disorders but no suicides, again consistent with the argument that an independent genetic component to suicide exists.

In examining familial risk factors for individuals who died by suicide, a family history of suicide contributed about a twofold increase in risk, even when controlling for family psychiatric history, which is also a significant predictor (Qin et al. 2003, Runeson & Åsberg 2003). These results also add support to the argument that there is a genetic contribution to suicide independent of the genetic contribution to mental illness. Interestingly, Runeson & Åsberg (2003) found no gender differences in the relation of family history to personal risk for suicide, whereas

289

į

Qin et al. (2003) found that a family history of suicide increases risk for suicide in females more than in males. Clearly, further research on the interaction between gender and family history of suicide is necessary.

Research on the parent-child transmission of suicide risk has also been utilized to identify risk factors for suicide attempts. One study found a sixfold increase in risk for suicide attempt in children of suicide attempters versus nonattempters. Additionally, 82% of the offspring who attempted suicide also had a mood disorder. A history of sexual abuse and increased impulsive aggression in both the parent and child also increased risk for suicide in the children of suicide attempters (Brent et al. 2002). This same group conducted another study (Brent et al. 2003), which divided the parents into three groups: those who had attempted suicide and had a sibling who had attempted suicide (highest genetic loading), those who had attempted suicide but none of whose siblings had attempted suicide (moderate genetic loading), and those who had not attempted suicide and whose siblings had not attempted suicide (low genetic loading). As expected, offspring with the highest genetic loading had the highest risk for suicide attempt, those with a moderate genetic loading had a moderate risk for suicide attempt, and offspring with a low genetic loading had the lowest risk for suicide attempt; greater genetic loading was associated with earlier age of first suicide attempt in offspring. Similar to their prior study, impulsive aggression predicted both familial transmission of suicide attempt and earlier age at first attempt, though in contrast to the earlier study, history of physical or sexual abuse did not (Brent et al. 2003). These two studies of parent-child transmission of suicidal behavior illustrate the important role of impulsive aggression as a mediator, but contribute mixed results regarding the role of childhood abuse in risk for suicidal behavior.

STUDIES OF CANDIDATE GENES In recent years, one gene that has received much attention is the serotonin transporter gene. The serotonin transporter (5-HTT) maintains control over the availability of serotonin in the synaptic cleft. In humans, 5-HTT is encoded by one gene (SLC6A4), located on chromosome 17q12. The transcriptional control region of this gene, denoted 5-HTTLPR. has been identified as having a polymorphism consisting of a 44 base pair insertion or deletion. These two alleles have been called the long (l) and short (s) (Lesch et al. 1996). These two alleles combine in individuals to form three different genotypes—the homozygous short (s/s), homozygous long (1/1), and heterozygous (s/1). Studies to date examining the link between these various genotypes and suicidality have generally shown mixed results. A recent study that followed 103 suicide attempters over the course of a year found that having the s allele increased the risk for subsequent suicide attempt, and that the frequency of the s/s genotype rose as the number of suicide attempts rose. Additionally, subjects carrying the s/s genotype had significantly higher scores on a measure of impulsivity (Courtet et al. 2004). Joiner et al. (2002a) reported that those with a significant family history of suicide were more likely to have the s/s genotype than were those without a family history. Mann et al.'s (2000) postmortem study found that short alleles were more

common among suicide victims than among others, but this difference did not reach statistical significance. However, a recent meta-analysis (Brown & Joiner, in preparation) has indicated that suicide completers are significantly *less* likely to carry the *s* allele than are controls. Suicide attempters showed no significant genotype differences from controls. These apparently contradictory findings highlight the need for further research on this gene as it relates to suicidality. In particular, the serotonin transporter gene's potential link to impulsivity warrants further investigation, as impulsivity appears to be involved in risk for suicide (a point that will be expanded on below).

Perhaps the most commonly studied gene with relation to suicidality is the tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH) gene. TPH is the rate-limiting enzyme in the synthesis of serotonin, making it an obvious candidate for speculation regarding suicide. This gene is located on chromosome 11q7, and two polymorphisms in particular have been studied: A218C and A779C. A meta-analysis of the association between the A218C polymorphism and suicidal behavior (combined attempted and completed suicides) found that presence of the 218A allele was significantly related to increased risk for suicide (Rujescu et al. 2003a). Other studies (e.g., Bennett et al. 2000, Pooley et al. 2003) have examined the A779C polymorphism and its relationship to suicide, with mixed results. One study (Nielsen et al. 1998) evaluated suicidality in male violent offenders and classified offenses as impulsive or nonimpulsive. Interestingly, suicidal impulsive offenders were more likely to carry the 779C allele, but suicidal nonimpulsive offenders were less likely to carry the 779C allele. The A218C polymorphism and the A779C polymorphism have been shown to be linked, such that almost all individuals have the same genotype for both polymorphisms (Kunugi et al. 1999). This suggests that the results regarding the A218C polymorphism likely hold true for the A779C polymorphism as well, and vice versa. Currently, the implications of these results are unclear, given that these two polymorphisms do not seem to have any functional influence on TPH gene transcription. Research is needed to identify the possible mechanisms of this gene's influence on suicidality as well as its potential moderating effect of impulsivity.

A third serotonergic gene that has been examined in relation to suicide is the 5-HT_{2A} receptor gene. A polymorphism has been identified on chromosome 13q14.1–14.2 and has been labeled T102C. This gene has come into question based on findings that suggest abnormalities in the 5-HT_{2A} receptors in suicidality (discussed below). However, the polymorphism in question has shown no functional relationship with the receptor, with one study (Du et al. 1999) showing no association between genotype of the T102C polymorphism and 5-HT_{2A} receptor density. Given these results, it is not surprising that most studies to date have found no association between the T102C polymorphism and suicidality (see Arango et al. 2003 for a review). However, these findings should not be taken to mean that the 5-HT_{2A} receptor gene has no effect on suicidality. It is more accurate to say that we have not yet identified the polymorphism that regulates the effect of the 5-HT_{2A} receptor gene on suicidal behavior.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

291

Finally, one gene that has only recently been studied with regard to suicide is the catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) gene. The COMT enzyme is responsible for degradation of catecholamines (dopamine, epinephrine, and norepinephrine). A polymorphism on chromosome 22q11 codes for COMT activity and is composed of two alleles, the H allele and the L allele, which trigger high or low COMT activity, respectively. As with most other research on candidate genes, results have been mixed. One study (Russ et al. 2000) identified no difference in COMT genotype between patients at high risk for suicide and controls. However, other studies have suggested that the COMT gene is associated only with violent suicide. In one sample (Rujescu et al. 2003b), the L allele was more frequent in violent suicide attempters versus nonviolent attempters and nonattempters. The nonviolent suicide attempters and nonattempters showed no difference in COMT genotype. A similar study (Nolan et al. 2000) stratified the results by gender and found that the L allele was more frequent in males with a history of suicide attempts than in females. Furthermore, males who carried the L allele were more likely to have made violent suicide attempts and more attempts overall, but this relationship did not hold for females. Clearly, additional studies must be conducted to replicate these results, which suggest an interesting gender difference in suicide with regard to the COMT gene. The results also suggest that the COMT gene is linked to violent behaviors. Though recent studies have not evaluated the COMT gene with regard to impulsivity, this is an important area for future research.

To summarize, twin and family studies of suicidality have clearly shown a genetic component to suicidal behavior. Current research estimates the genetic contribution to suicidality to be between 30% and 50%. This genetic risk for suicidality appears to be partly independent of risk for mental illness and other psychological stressors. With advances in the study of the human genome and readily available procedures for genotyping, several candidate genes for the transmission of suicide risk have been identified. The serotonin transporter gene, the TPH gene, and the COMT gene have all shown links to suicidal behavior. The effects that these genes may have on impulsive and violent behaviors have only begun to be assessed and are a promising area of future research, as they may be the mechanisms through which the genetic risk is expressed. It is also important to note that suicidal behavior is not simple enough to be caused by any one gene, and haplotype analysis—the analysis of the effects of multiple genotypes in combination—may help to differentiate levels of genetic risk.

Abnormalities in the Serotonergic System

PERIPHERAL MEASURES OF SEROTONIN FUNCTION To date, one of the most well replicated findings in suicidal behavior is decreased levels of 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), a major metabolite of serotonin, in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of suicidal individuals. A meta-analysis comparing levels of 5-HIAA as well as homovanillic acid (HVA, a dopamine metabolite) and 4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl glycol (MHPG, a metabolite of norepinephrine) found consistent evidence for

lowered 5-HIAA in suicide attempters and completers but no evidence for consistent changes in HVA or MHPG, indicating specificity to the serotonergic system (Lester 1995). A subsequent review came to similar conclusions and indicated that low levels of 5-HIAA in suicide attempters are predictive of subsequent attempts (Åsberg 1997).

Given the robust findings regarding decreased 5-HIAA in the CSF of suicide attempters and completers, recent research has begun to investigate possible moderators of this relationship. Some research (Mann & Malone 1997, Placidi et al. 2001) has divided suicide attempters based on the lethality of their attempts and has found that levels of 5-HIAA are significantly lower in high-lethality versus low-lethality attempters and that levels of HVA and MHPG do not vary by group. Other research (Cremniter et al. 1999) has evaluated impulsivity as a potential moderator. In violent suicide attempters, those who were identified as having high impulsivity had significantly lower 5-HIAA levels than did nonimpulsive attempters and controls. When evaluating serotonin in blood samples, plasma levels of 5-HIAA were lower in impulsive suicide attempters than in nonimpulsive attempters and controls (Spreux-Varoquaux et al. 2001). Taken together, these more recent studies suggest that lethality and impulsivity may serve as a link between low 5-HIAA and suicidal behavior.

One study (Nielsen et al. 1994) examined the association between CSF 5-HIAA levels and the TPH gene in impulsive alcoholic offenders. Individuals who carried the 779C allele were more likely to have lower 5-HIAA concentrations than individuals who did not. As mentioned previously, impulsive offenders with a suicide history were also more likely to carry the 779C allele, again supporting the link between low 5-HIAA and increased impulsivity and suicidality.

FENFLURAMINE CHALLENGE STUDIES Another mechanism for documenting abnormalities in the serotonin system is by administration of a fenfluramine challenge. This task is useful in that it stimulates serotonin release and inhibits reuptake, and the degree to which it stimulates serotonin can be measured by levels of prolactin. Results have generally shown a decreased prolactin response in suicide attempters versus depressed patients and controls, indicating less serotonergic activity in suicidality specifically (Coccaro et al. 1989, Corrêa et al. 2000, Duval et al. 2001). However, this difference has not always been found (Prochazka et al. 2000).

Similar to the 5-HIAA studies, lethality and impulsivity have been evaluated as moderators of this relationship. Not surprisingly, higher-lethality suicide attempters show decreased prefrontal cortex functioning as compared to lowlethality attempters, particularly after fenfluramine challenge (Oquendo et al. 2003). These high-lethality attempters also show decreased prolactin response to the fenfluramine challenge as compared to low-lethality attempters (Corrêa et al. 2000, Malone et al. 1996). Blunted prolactin response to the fenfluramine challenge is also seen in impulsive (Coccaro et al. 1989, Dolan et al. 2001, Sher et al. 2003) and aggressive individuals (Coccaro et al. 1989, Sher et al. 2003) as

294 JOINER ■ BROWN ■ WINGATE

compared to controls. One study (Malone et al. 1996) examined the interrelationships between suicide attempt lethality, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) Cluster B personality disorders (characterized by erratic and impulsive behaviors), and fenfluramine-induced prolactin response. Again, the evidence to date suggests that hypoactivity of the serotonin system may influence aggression, impulsivity, and the lethality of suicide attempts.

TRANSPORTER AND RECEPTOR BINDING ABNORMALITIES Another method of evaluating the serotonin system is by postmortem analysis of the brains of individuals who have died by suicide. This area of research is not as clearly defined as the CSF 5-HIAA and fenfluramine literature, as some have found no difference in serotonin transporter binding between suicide victims and control subjects (Arango et al. 2001, Du et al. 1999). However, another study (Mann et al. 2000) found decreased serotonin transporter binding in the ventral prefrontal cortex that was specific to suicide as compared to major depression. Findings also indicated that abnormalities in the ventral prefrontal cortex are associated with disinhibition and impulsivity. Clearly, further research—either in vivo using imaging techniques or by postmortem analysis—regarding serotonin transporter binding in suicidal individuals is necessary.

Similar techniques have also been used to study serotonin receptor activity in suicidal individuals. Studies of the serotonin 2A receptor have indicated increased binding in suicide victims as compared with controls (Du et al. 1999, Turecki et al. 1999). Results for the serotonin 1A receptor, however, are less consistent. Increased serotonin 1A receptors have been seen in the dorsal raphe nucleus in suicide victims as compared with controls (Stockmeier et al. 1998). It has also been reported (Arango et al. 2001) that the receptor density in the dorsal and median raphe nucleus is equivalent between suicide victims and controls, but that the binding capacity is decreased in suicide victims. Again, this area of research is still in the preliminary stages and clear differentiation between suicidal individuals and controls regarding serotonin receptors has not yet been identified.

Other Brain Systems

Thus far, research has primarily focused on the role of the serotonin system in suicidal behaviors. As reported in the CSF studies, metabolites of dopamine and norepinephrine are generally no different in these groups than in others (see Placidi et al. 2001 for a review). However, it has been suggested that other brain systems, such as the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, may be involved in suicidal behavior. One way to measure HPA axis activity is by administering the dexamethasone suppression test (DST) and measuring cortisol response. Nonsuppression of cortisol in response to the DST indicates hyperactivity of the HPA axis. A meta-analysis has indicated that nonsuppression of cortisol in response to the DST may be predictive of later death by suicide (Lester 1992). While some more recent studies have not found an association between cortisol response to the DST and suicidality (Pitchot et al. 1995, 2003), others have shown that nonsuppressors show greater suicidality and severity of depression (Westrin & Niméus 2003).

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

One study (Coryell & Schlesser 2001) followed a group of patients over 15 years and found that those with nonsuppression of cortisol at baseline went on to have a 14-fold greater risk of death by suicide than those who did suppress cortisol output in response to the DST. These studies suggest that hyperactivity of the HPA system may be involved in suicidal behavior, though the evidence is not conclusive.

In summary, neurobiological research to date has clearly shown that there are serotonergic differences in suicidal individuals as compared to others. These differences appear to be specific to serotonin and may not involve other neurotransmitters. Studies of CSF and fenfluramine challenge responses indicate decreased serotonergic function in suicide attempters and completers, and point to impulsivity, aggression, and lethality as being influenced by this serotonin hypoactivity. More specific biological mechanisms underlying this hypoactivity are not yet clear, as there is no conclusive evidence for abnormalities in either the serotonin transporter or serotonin receptors in the brains of those who die by suicide. The twin and family genetic studies also implicate impulsivity as a factor, as well as mood and anxiety disorders; they further document that the genetic contribution to suicide exists beyond these factors. Continued research in this area is clearly necessary. Research has also implicated the HPA axis in suicidality, and further research on the nature of this system and its link to suicidal behavior promises to be an exciting new avenue of inquiry.

PSYCHOLOGICAL AND CLINICAL RISK FACTORS FOR SUICIDALITY

Mental Disorders

The presence of a psychiatric disorder and particularly major depressive disorder is a well-established risk factor for suicide across all age groups (Prigerson et al. 2003). Approximately 90% of completed suicides have a diagnosable psychiatric disorder at the time of death (Bertolote 2003, Cheng 1995, Conwell et al. 1996, Henriksson et al. 1993, Vijayakumar & Rajkumar 1999). A number of other psychiatric disorders have also been repeatedly and specifically linked to suicide. The specific disorders with strong empirical support for a relation to suicide include mood disorders, borderline personality disorder (BPD), disruptive behavior disorders, alcohol and drug use disorders, anxiety disorders, anorexia nervosa. and schizophrenia.

Depression is a long-established risk factor for suicide (see, e.g., Brent et al. 1988, Driessen et al. 1998, Friedman et al. 1983, Kessler et al. 1999, McGlashan 1986, Preuss et al. 2002, Yen et al. 2003), and mood disorders are the disorders most frequently associated with suicide and suicide ideation and discussed as risk factors for the presence of suicidality (Chioqueta & Stiles 2003, Hawton 1987). The majority of the studies that evaluate the relation of psychiatric disorders to suicide report major depression as the most significant diagnosis related to suicide (Asnis et al. 1993, Chioqueta & Stiles 2003, Isometsa et al. 1996, Spalletta et al. 1996). Overall, the lifetime risk for suicide in depressed patients is estimated at 2.2%

ŀ

1

(Bostwick & Pankratz 2000, Papakostas et al. 2003). In a study of published cases specifically examining the diagnosis of people who died by suicide, Bertolote et al. (2003) reported that 53.7% of those who died by suicide were diagnosed with depression. This finding is consistent with Lonnquest (2000), who found a diagnosis of depression ranging from 29% to 88% in his review of psychological autopsy studies. It has been suggested that patients with depressive disorders have a suicide risk 60% to 70% higher than the general population (Khan 2002).

In addition to depression, the rates of suicide have also been found to be substantial for other mood disorders, especially bipolar disorder (Chen & Dilsaver 1996; e.g., Chioqueta & Stiles 2003, Vieta et al. 1997), and perhaps dysthymia (Angst 1995, Chioqueta & Stiles 2003, Hintikka et al. 1998, Isometsa et al. 1996). People diagnosed with bipolar disorder represent a diagnostic group of especially high suicide risk (Goodwin & Jamison 1990). Epidemiologic studies have found that 29% of bipolar disorder patients admit to at least one suicide attempt in their lifetime (Chen & Dilsaver 1996). Previous studies have identified bipolar disorder in 10% to 15% (Arato et al. 1988, Beautrais et al. 1996, Rihmer et al. 1995) and up to 47% (Rihmer et al. 1990) of suicide victims or suicide attempters. In their review of studies of bipolar disorder Balazs et al. (2003) reported that suicidal behavior is more frequent in bipolar II than in bipolar I disorder (Dunner et al. 1976, Endicott et al. 1985, Rihmer et al. 1990, Rihmer & Pestality 1999), attempts are more common in bipolar than in unipolar depression patients (Bulik et al. 1990, Dunner et al. 1976, Endicott et al. 1985, Rihmer et al. 1990, Rihmer & Pestality 1999), and bipolar patients are overrepresented among suicide victims (Rihmer et al. 1995).

The relation of dysthymia to suicide is less clear and studies have reported mixed results. Chioqueta & Stiles (2003) studied suicide risk in outpatients with specific mood and anxiety disorders and found that both a major depressive episode and bipolar disorder, but not dysthymia, were significantly associated with higher levels of suicidal ideation. The data supported an interaction effect in which higher levels of anxiety in patients with dysthymia were associated with more suicidal ideation.

Mood disorders have long been established as a risk factor for suicidality and particular emphasis and study have been placed on the relationship between depression and suicide. An obvious candidate for a neurobiological explanation of the association is dysregulated serotonergic functioning, which characterizes both depression and suicidality (Papakostas et al. 2003). From a psychological standpoint, hopelessness may be a mediator, in that hopelessness is clearly associated with both depression and suicidality, perhaps causally (as will be expanded on below).

Specific personality disorders have also been associated with suicidality. A diagnosis of a personality disorder is found in 9% to 28% of completed suicides and the significance of a personality disorder as a risk factor for attempted suicide is even greater, with rates reported as high as 55% among attempters (Soloff et al. 1994). BPD is frequently associated with suicide and is a long-established risk factor for suicide (see, e.g., Friedman et al. 1983, McGlashan 1986, Yen et al. 2003). BPD is characterized by affective instability, interpersonal storminess, a diffuse sense of self, and behavioral impulsivity, including self-harm. BPD is described as among the most lethal of all psychiatric disorders, with the usual mechanism of death being suicide (Gunderson 1984, Keel et al. 2003). Approximately 50% of BPD patients have made a minimum of one very severe suicide attempt (Gunderson 1984); and among patients with this syndrome, an average of more than three lifetime suicide attempts has been documented (Soloff et al. 1994). Findings from the Collaborative Longitudinal Personality Disorders Study (Yen et al. 2003) report that BPD was the strongest predictor of a suicide attempt. In this study, a majority (77.6%) of those who attempted suicide met criteria for BPD, and conversely, 20.5% of borderline participants had made a suicide attempt during the two-year study interval (Yen et al. 2003). Further, a history of a previous suicide attempt among BPD patients is a stronger predictor of completed suicides than for any other diagnostic group (e.g., in 65% of suicides among BPD patients a prior attempt had been made, versus 33% among patients with major depression; Stone et al. 1987). The most significant link between suicide and BPD may be the instances of repeated self-injury characterized by the disorder. People diagnosed with this disorder will commonly engage in repeated self-harm behavior involving self-cutting, scratching, hitting, and swallowing harmful objects. Through repeated self-injury, people with BPD become practiced regarding suicidal behavior, and thus may lose fear regarding suicide and become competent about suicide, and as a consequence, engage in increasingly dangerous self-harm (Joiner 2002).

Another mechanism connecting BPD to suicidality may be emotion dysregulation. Many have hypothesized that when people with BPD engage in self-harm behaviors they do not actually intend to die; rather, they are attempting to regulate their emotions (Kemperman et al. 1997, Yen et al. 2003). Linehan (e.g., 1993) has emphasized emotion dysregulation as a core problem in and cause of suicidal behavior. The interpersonal strains associated with emotional dysregulation are likely to contribute to feelings of disconnection and ineffectiveness, which are significant predictors of suicidal behavior (Joiner 2002). Dialectical behavior therapy is an empirically supported therapy for BPD in which the main ingredient of the therapy is the reduction of self-injury. This is accomplished by teaching skills to regulate emotion.

Antisocial personality disorder, and its youth analogue, conduct disorder, are associated with suicidality. These disorders are characterized as a long-standing pattern of aggressive behavior and reckless and impulsive disregard for others as well as disregard for rules and norms. Substantial evidence exists for a relation between one aspect of antisociality—antisocial deviance—and suicidal acts, but not between another aspect of antisociality—unemotional callousness—and suicidality (Verona 2001; Verona et al. 2001, 2004). One mechanism explaining the link between antisocial personality disorder and suicide may be the combination of aggression and negative emotionality (e.g., anger). There is a heightened risk for suicidal behavior among individuals manifesting reactive aggressiveness,

298 JOINER ■ BROWN ■ WINGATE

persistent criminality, and antisocial personality disorder (Verona 2001). Additionally, a history of violent crime and juvenile delinquency has been associated with suicide attempts and completions in adulthood (Bland et al. 1998, Ivanoff & Jang 1991, Marcus & Alcabes 1993). Aggression is discussed further as an independent risk factor for suicide below.

Another possible explanation for the relationship between antisocial personality disorder and conduct disorder and suicide may be the cumulative effects of repeated instances of self-harm, both direct and indirect (e.g., through recklessness). Repeated self-harm is related to higher risk for eventual suicide (Ivanoff 1992, Marcus & Alcabes 1993). Antisocial personalities characterized by undercontrolled behaviors would be at a higher risk for suicide because their recklessness gives them opportunity to habituate to pain and injury, a potentially key process in serious suicidal behavior (Joiner 2002).

Of course, impulsivity may be another mechanism for the relationship between suicide and Cluster B personality disorders such as BPD and antisocial personality disorder. Impulsive personality characteristics are a well-documented risk factor for serious suicidality (see, e.g., Apter et al. 1993). Soloff et al. (1994) suggested that many suicide attempts in patients with BPD arise from a background of anger or impulsivity ("impulsive-aggression"), which may represent a primary behavioral dyscontrol in this disorder. Aggression, impulsivity, and antisocial traits have been associated with suicidal behavior in many studies (Soloff et al. 1994). As was noted above, there is converging evidence that the serotonergic system is a neurobiological substrate underlying the association between impulsivity, aggression, and suicidality.

Substance use disorders confer risk for suicidality as well (American Psychiatric Association 1994, Borges et al. 2000, Harris & Barraclough 1997, Miles 1977, Pokorny 1983). Koller et al. (2002) report that approximately 30% to 40% of male suicide attempters and 15% to 20% of female suicide attempters have alcohol-abuse or alcohol-dependence diagnoses (Rygnestadt et al. 1992), and approximately 7% to 8% of alcohol-dependent subjects die by suicide (Inskip et al. 1998). The relative lifetime risk for suicide in alcoholics is seven times higher than that of the general population (Gorwood 2001, Soyka et al. 1993). Darke & Ross (1997) report that in all studies they reviewed, the prevalence of attempted suicide among those with substance use disorders is many orders of magnitude greater than that of community samples. In studies of heroin users specifically, the lifetime prevalence of attempted suicide was reported at 35% (Vingoe et al. 1999) and 40% (Darke & Ross 2001). High levels of polydrug use have also been associated with attempted suicide (Murphy et al. 1983, Rossow & Lauritzen 1999). The number of drug classes used is a stronger predictor of suicidal behavior than is any individual drug class (Borges et al. 2000). Empirical evidence suggests that the risk is often associated with comorbidity with other disorders. Prigerson et al. (2003) states that there is a well-established suicide risk of comorbid diagnosis with substance abuse disorders in the general population. In his review of studies of death by suicide, Bertolote et al. (2003) found that comorbidity of mood disorder with

substance-related disorder was the most frequently found multiple diagnosis. Suicide risks associated with substance abuse and associated dual diagnoses among differing age groups are less well understood (Prigerson et al. 2003).

Koller et al. (2002) found that alcohol-dependent subjects with a history of suicide attempts have more aggressive and impulsive traits, and suggest that these traits may be significant factors in the pathogenesis of suicide attempts in alcoholics, largely independent of the suicide attempt method used. Additionally, it is important to note the confluence of general suicide risk factors in those who abuse drugs. Darke & Ross (1997) describe the social profile of heroine users (and likely other drug abusers) as one of predominant unemployment, low educational levels, social isolation, repeated incarceration, and high rates of parental alcoholism, general psychopathology, and divorce (Darke & Ross 2001; Harlow 1990; Johnsson & Fridell 1997; Marx et al. 1994; Murphy et al. 1983; Rossow & Lauritzen 1999, 2001; Segest et al. 1990; Tunving 1998). Given their widespread exposure to suicide risk factors, it is not surprising that the rates of both completed and attempted suicide are many times those observed in the general community (Darke & Ross 1997).

Symptoms of anxiety disorders have been implicated in serious suicidality, though findings on this point appear to be mixed. Data linking anxiety and suicide risk have been described as unclear (Khan et al. 2002, Placidi et al. 2000) and controversial (Cox et al. 1994). Noves (1991) reported that suicide rates for those with an anxiety disorder range from 6% to 60%. An analysis of the Food and Drug Administration database of treatment outcome studies found a significant association between anxiety disorders and suicide (Khan et al. 2002). This study reported a suicide risk higher than described in many previous studies, and regardless of the type of anxiety disorder with which the subject was diagnosed, reported a high risk of suicide. Fawcett and colleagues have repeatedly shown that severe anxious agitation is an important sign of acute suicide risk (see, e.g., Busch et al. 2003), and others have reported the highest amount of suicidal ideation was associated with co-occurring major depression and anxiety disorder (Bartles et al. 2002). However, in a study by Beck et al. (1991), no patients with panic disorder. and 1.3% with panic disorder and agoraphobia, reported they had made a suicide attempt. In a study of suicide risk in outpatients with specific mood and anxiety disorders (Chioqueta & Stiles 2003), none of the anxiety disorders were associated with increased levels of suicide risk, and specific phobia was actually associated with significantly lower levels of suicidal ideation.

Of all the anxiety disorders, panic disorder probably has received the most attention with regard to associations with suicidality, and indeed, according to some researchers there does seem to be a significant association between panic disorder and suicidal symptoms (Noyes 1991, Weissman et al. 1989). It is possible, though, that the connection may be explained partly through comorbidity with mood disorders (Cox et al. 1994, Schmidt et al. 2000). The findings regarding panic disorder are mixed as are the findings regarding anxiety in general (Yen et al. 2003); some studies have not found associations between panic disorder, whether and suicidality. Chioqueta & Stiles (2003) reported that panic disorder, whether

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

or not associated with agoraphobia, was not found to be associated with either hopelessness (a significant predictor of suicide) or suicidal ideation. Their findings were in accordance with Overbeek et al.'s (1998) study, which did not find higher suicide risk for the panic-disordered patients, even though they found higher levels of hopelessness in comparison with the control group, and with other more recent prospective studies in which panic disorder was not associated with an increased risk of suicide attempt (Brown et al. 2000, Placidi et al. 2000, Warshaw et al. 2000).

The diagnosis of schizophrenia has long been associated with an increased risk for suicide and suicide-related behaviors. It has been estimated that up to 13% of patients with schizophrenia will die of suicide, a rate comparable to that of mood disorder patients, and more than 20 times higher than in the general population (Allebeck 1989, Altamura et al. 2003, Black 1988, Meltzer 2003, Meltzer et al. 2000). As many as 40% of people diagnosed with schizophrenia spectrum disorders attempt suicide at some time in their lives (Axelsson & Lagerkvist-Briggs 1992, Meltzer & Fatemi 1995, Meltzer et al. 2000, Planasky & Johnston 1971). Many studies have investigated clinical variables linking schizophrenia to suicide. Not surprisingly, depressive symptoms in patients with schizophrenia are one of the most reported symptom sets related to suicidal behavior (Cohen et al. 1990, Heila et al. 1997, Mann et al. 1999, Potkin et al. 2003, Radomsky et al. 1999, Rossau & Montensen 1997, Roy & Draper 1995, Tandon & Jibson 2003; but not in Allebeck et al. 1987 or Young et al. 1998). In addition to depressive symptoms, Altamura et al. (2003) described many other variables related to suicide in schizophrenic patients, including male gender, a younger age, unemployment, a positive family history for suicidal attempts, comorbid substance abuse, and the lack of a supportive environment (Black & Winokur 1988, Breier & Astrachan 1984, Caldwell & Gottesman 1990, Siris 2001). Positive symptoms have also been associated with an increased risk for suicide (Addington & Addington 1992, Amador et al. 1996, Falloon & Talbot 1981, Fenton et al. 1997, Kaplan & Harrow 1999; Messias et al. 2001, Miller & Chabrier 1988). However, others have found that the presence of delusions did not increase the risk for suicide attempts (Grunenbaum et al. 2001). Meltzer (2003) reported five variables that were most predictive of suicidality among schizophrenic people, including number of lifetime suicide attempts, number of hospitalizations within the last three years, current or lifetime substance abuse, depression, and the severity of Parkinsonism. The relationship between hopelessness and suicide has been demonstrated in schizophrenic patients (Murphy 1983). In a study of patients' charts, hopelessness accounted for the relationship between depression and suicide in a group of schizophrenic inpatients who eventually died by suicide (Drake & Cotton 1986).

Joiner et al. (2001) provided data relating a particular aspect of depressive symptoms (self-hatred) that combines with schizophrenia to encourage suicidality. Their findings were consistent with Bleuler's (1911/1987) suggestions that self-hate may be one aspect of depressive symptoms that takes on an especially pernicious quality in people with schizophrenia-spectrum symptoms. The relation

301

of self-hate to suicidal symptoms was stronger among those with schizophreniaspectrum symptoms than among others; this finding was specific to self-hate, and did not apply to depression in general (Joiner et al. 2001).

Finally, there is evidence that anorexia nervosa is associated with high rates of death by suicide. Herzog et al. (2000) followed 246 eating-disordered women (some with anorexia nervosa, some with bulimia nervosa) for more than 10 years. Seven died, three from suicide. All of those who died were anorexic; no bulimic women died. The risk of death by suicide among the anorexic participants was 58 times the expected rate (see also Keel et al. 2003).

Up until this point, we have focused on the specific relationships between psychiatric disorders and suicide. Much research supports these relationships: however, as has been noted, research has focused on other specific factors and their relationship to suicide. In addition to the several disorders that have been repeatedly linked with suicide, other factors such as hopelessness, social isolation, aggression, and ineffectiveness have been consistently linked to suicide.

Hopelessness

Hopelessness is significant in the etiology and maintenance of depression, and is a significant predictor of suicide. Hopelessness is defined as "a system of cognitive schemas whose common denominator is negative expectations about the future" (Beck et al. 1974, p. 864), or a "lowered expectation of obtaining certain goals and a diminished belief in the likelihood of achieving success" (Melges & Bowlby 1969). Beck (1963) considered hopelessness to be the mechanism, or the key factor, in the relationship between depression and suicide. Hopelessness has been found to correlate better with suicidal ideation than depression in prospective studies (Beck et al. 1974, Chioqueta & Stiles 2003, Silver et al. 1971, Wetzel 1976, Wetzel et al. 1980), and is a better predictor of suicide than of depression in some studies (Beck et al. 1985, 1990). Empirical research strongly supports the central role of hopelessness in suicidal ideation (Bedrosian & Beck 1979, Chioqueta & Stiles 2003, Dyer & Kreitman 1984, Minkoff et al. 1973, Nekanda-Trepka et al. 1983). Hopelessness is arguably the best predictor overall of suicide completions in clinical populations (Steer et al. 1993).

The development of hopelessness is often related to interpersonal factors (Perez-Smith et al. 2002). Joiner's (2002) Interpersonal-Psychological Theory of Attempted and Completed Suicide hypothesizes that suicidal people are specifically hopeless about feelings of being a burden on others and of failed belongingness. Concepts like burdensomeness and failed belongingness are interpersonal, and there is evidence that interpersonal factors are among the strongest predictors of serious suicidality.

Social Isolation

Social isolation—a state in which interpersonal contacts and relationships are disrupted or nonexistent (Trout 1980)—has been consistently related to suicidal

302 JOINER ■ BROWN ■ WINGATE

behavior. Many studies cite Durkheim (1897) as the first to propose and study the theory that suicide results in part from failure in social integration. It has been suggested that the fact that those who die by suicide experience isolation and withdrawal before their deaths is among the clearest in all the literature on suicide (Trout 1980). Studies of adolescents found that those with histories of suicide attempt often chose not to seek support from others (Greholt et al. 2000), and did not tell anyone what they were thinking during the period of suicidal ideation (Negron et al. 1997). In a study of suicidal and death ideation in older primary care patients, fewer social supports were associated with greater overall ideation (Bartles et al. 2002). Darke & Ross (1997) suggested that indices of social isolation and disadvantage were associated with risk of suicide (Appleby et al. 1999, Beautrais et al. 1996, Hassan 1995, Shepherd & Barraclough 1980).

Baumeister & Leary (1995) proposed that the need to belong is a fundamental human motive, and they provided many diverse lines of empirical support for their model. Baumeister & Leary (1995) argued that the need to belong to valued groups or relationships is a powerful, fundamental, and extremely pervasive motivation. When this need is thwarted, numerous negative effects on health, adjustment, and well-being have been documented. Joiner's (2002) theory of suicide suggests that this need to be social is so powerful that, when satisfied, it can prevent suicide; however, when the need for social connection is thwarted, risk for suicide is increased.

In addition to social isolation in the general population, isolation has been studied specifically in correctional settings. According to Felthous (1997), several authorities have argued from a clinical or theoretical viewpoint that isolation can adversely affect an inmate's mental state and increase the likelihood of suicide. Research shows that a large percentage of inmates who killed themselves while incarcerated were in isolation, and two of every three jail suicides occurred in isolation (Felthous 1997, Hayes & Kajdan 1981). In their study of an incarcerated group, Anderson et al. (2000) found that isolation presented an increased suicide risk, and the incidence of psychiatric disorders developed in the prison was significantly higher in prisoners in solitary confinement.

There is not only support for the fact that social isolation is detrimental to mental health, but data suggest that the presence of a social network is a protective factor against suicide. In their study of risk and protective factors for suicidal behavior in abused African American women, Kaslow et al. (2002) found that social support was a significant protective factor associated with nonattempter status. Hoyer & Lund (1993) studied nearly one million women in Norway and reported that women with six or more children had one-fifth the risk of death by suicide as compared to other women. These findings support Durkheim's (1897) hypothesis that parenthood is of great importance when it comes to suicide prevention in married women. Hoyer & Lund (1993) also found the highest rates of suicide in single women. This is consistent with statistics compiled by McIntosh (2002) that indicate the following suicide rates in the United States in 1999: divorced—32.7 per 100,000, widowed—19.7 per 100,000, single—17.8 per 100,000, married—10.6 per 100,000.

Impulsivity and Aggression

As has been touched on above, lifetime aggression and impulsivity are known correlates of suicidal behavior (Mann et al. 1999). Conner et al. (2003) explain that no matter how aggression is defined (as a psychiatric diagnosis, psychological construct, or overt violent behavior), it confers risk for suicide. Reactive aggression (Dodge & Coie 1987, Vitiello & Stoff 1997), characterized by proneness to reflexive anger in the context of aversive events, particularly perceived interpersonal threat, has been proposed as a diathesis for suicide risk, with acute risk occurring in the context of psychiatric illness (Conner et al. 2003, Mann et al. 1999).

Several studies focusing on violence and suicide found clear support for their association. In a study that compared 50 persons attempting suicide with 50 nonsuicidal psychiatric patients and with 50 nonpsychiatric control patients attending a heart clinic, suicidal patients had experienced an array of violent episodes to a significantly higher degree than either control group (Whitlock & Broadhurst 1969). Similar results were found in a study of coroners' statistics in 32 inner-city boroughs in London (Kennedy et al. 1999). Rates for suicide, violence, and homicide were highly correlated with one another. The more violence and homicide occurred in a given borough, the higher the suicide rate.

Conner et al. (2001) reported on a representative survey of next-of-kin and other respondents close to people who had died by suicide and by other means in the previous year. Findings suggest that those who had died by suicide had more frequently threatened and attempted violence in the previous year, as compared to accident victim controls. Brent et al. (1994) found that a lifetime history of aggression differentiated adolescent suicide victims from matched controls, even after controlling for differences in psychopathology between suicides and controls.

Other factors also point to an association of experience with violence and related suicidality. As Conner et al. (2003) pointed out, prison inmates are at increased risk for suicide compared to community dwellers, and inmates completing suicide are more likely to have been incarcerated for manslaughter or murder as compared to other prisoners (DuRand et al. 1995).

Ineffectiveness

The view that ineffectiveness is painful has informed and been informed by prominent theories of psychopathology, including those related to the learned helplessness model (Abramson et al. 1978, 1989). Extending this perspective to include the particularly painful aspects of personal ineffectiveness affecting others is consistent with work on the possible roles of shame and guilt in psychopathology generally (Tangney et al. 1992) and suicidality in particular (Hastings et al. 2000). Factors such as unemployment, low income, physical illness, and less education can make it more difficult to be an effective agent of change in one's environment. These factors likely make it more difficult to negotiate tasks of daily living, obtain help from others, and cope with stressors. If individuals are able to obtain material resources, they may be somewhat protected against suicide (Kaslow et al. 2002); if not, this can lead to feelings of hopelessness and feelings that one is a burden on others. To perceive oneself as ineffective is painful, and it is even more painful to perceive oneself as so ineffective that loved ones are threatened and burdened. Joiner's (2002) suicide theory proposes that feelings of ineffectiveness contribute to the desire for suicide, and that feeling ineffective to the degree that others are burdened is among the strongest sources of all for the desire for suicide.

To our knowledge, four studies have directly assessed perceived burdensomeness in suicidality. Brown et al. (1999) conducted a questionnaire study of college students, and found the predicted correlation between feeling a burden on kin and suicidality. Burdensomeness stood out as a unique and specific predictor of suiciderelated symptoms even when key variables were controlled. Joiner et al. (2002b) trained raters to evaluate suicide notes regarding the following dimensions: perceived burdensomeness, hopelessness, and generalized emotional pain. Unknown to the raters, half of the notes were from people who died by suicide, and half were from people who attempted suicide and survived. In correlation/regression analyses in which predictors were controlled for each other, the notes from those who died by suicide contained more perceived burdensomeness than did notes from attempters; no effects were found regarding hopelessness and emotional pain. A second study in the Joiner et al. (2002b) report took a similar approach, except that all notes were from those who died by suicide, and perceived burdensomeness, hopelessness, and generalized emotional pain were used as predictors of lethality of suicide method (e.g., self-inflicted gunshot wound was viewed as relatively more lethal than overdose). Here again, perceived burdensomeness was a significant predictor of lethality, whereas hopelessness and generalized emotional pain were not. DeCatanzaro (1995) conducted a survey on reproductive behavior, quality of family contacts, and suicidal ideation on several hundred community participants, as well as on five high-suicide-risk groups (e.g., general psychiatric patients, incarcerated psychiatric patients). Within each of these samples, of all the many variables assessed, perceived burdensomeness toward family and social isolation were especially correlated with suicidal ideation.

Although not direct tests of the burdensomeness view of suicidality, several other studies have reported results consistent with this perspective. For example, Brown et al. (2002) reported that genuine suicide attempts were often characterized by a desire to make others better off, whereas nonsuicidal self-injury was often characterized by desires to express anger or punish oneself. As in other studies (e.g., two studies from Joiner et al. 2002b), burdensomeness emerged as a key variable even as compared to other powerful correlates of suicidality (see also Filiberti et al. 2001, Magne-Ingvar & Oejehagen 1999, Motto & Bostrom 1990).

CONCLUSIONS

From both neurobiological and psychological perspectives, extant research findings converge on the view that two general categories of risk for suicide can be identified: (*a*) dysregulated impulse control; and (*b*) propensity to intense psychological pain (e.g., social isolation, hopelessness), often in the context of mental disorders, especially mood disorders. Each of these categories of risk is underlain at least to some degree by specific genetic and neurobiological factors; these factors in general are not well characterized, though there is emerging consensus that most, if not all, reside in or affect the serotonergic system. The specific ways in which these categories of risk are translated into actual suicidal behavior is not clear, and is a main frontier for future research.

In this connection, we would counsel against simplistic theorizing of the sort that one factor or class of factors is a main cause of suicide. For example, the evidence is clear that mental disorders comprise a significant risk for suicide. Yet, the genetic contribution to suicide exists beyond the effects of mental disorders, and the majority of people with mental disorders do not attempt or die by suicide. Similarly, impulsivity is a documented risk factor for suicidal behavior, leading some to imagine that "impulsive suicide"—that is, spur-of-the-moment death by suicide—is common. Yet, it is exceedingly difficult to document a case like this, where it is clear that spur-of-the-moment processes were operative apart from more long-standing processes.

We therefore believe that a full understanding of suicide will involve multivariate, interactive models that are constrained to account for the facts summarized in this review. Joiner's (2002) interpersonal-psychological theory is an attempt at this—the theory contends that people gradually acquire the ability to enact lethal self-injury through prior experience with self-injury (which in turn is encouraged by impulsive behavior underlain by serotonergic dysregulation). The theory further asserts that this ability is not acted upon unless the desire for death is instantiated by a strong sense of perceived burdensomeness coupled with a sense of failed belongingness; these two factors are relevant to why hopelessness, social isolation, and the mental disorders of which they are associated features comprise a clear risk for suicidal behavior. This model is presented as a tentative example of the kind of theorizing that will be necessary to be simultaneously conceptually precise about the specific preconditions of serious suicidal behavior as well as epistemically broad, explaining the daunting array of suicide-related facts at levels ranging from the molecular to the cultural.

The Annual Review of Psychology is online at http://psych.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Abramson LY, Metalsky GI, Alloy LB. 1989. Hopelessness depression: a theory-based subtype of depression. *Psychol. Rev.* 96:358– 72
- Abramson LY, Seligman MEP, Teasdale J. 1978. Learned helplessness in humans: critique and reformulation. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 87:49-74
- Addington DE, Addington JM. 1992. Attempted suicide and depression in schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 60: 47-55
- Allebeck P. 1989. Schizophrenia: a life-shortening disease. Schizophr. Bull. 15:81–89
- Allebeck P, Varla A, Kristjansson E, Wistedt B. 1987. Risk factors for suicide among patients

VIOR **305**

with schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 76:414–19

- Altamura AC, Bassetti R, Bignotti S, Pioli R, Mundo E. 2003. Clinical variables related to suicide attempts in schizophrenic patients: a retrospective study. Schizophr. Res. 60:47– 55
- Amador XF, Friedman JH, Kasapis C, Yale SA, Flaum M, Gorman JM 1996. Suicidal behavior in schizophrenia and its relationship to awareness of illness. Am. J. Psychiatry 153: 1185–88
- American Psychiatric Association. 1994. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Washington, DC: Am. Psychiatric Assoc. 4th ed.
- Andersen HS, Sestoft D, Lillebaek T, Gabrielsen G, Hemmingsen R, Kramp P. 2000. A longitudinal study of prisoners on reprimand: psychiatric prevalence, incidence and psychopathology in solitary vs. non-solitary confinement. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 102:19–25
- Angst J. 1995. The epidemiology of depressive disorders. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 5(Suppl.):95–98
- Appleby L, Cooper J, Amos T, Faragher B. 1999. Psychological autopsy study of suicides by people under 35. Br. J. Psychiatry 175:168–74
- Arango V, Huang Y-y, Underwood MD, Mann JJ. 2003. Genetics of the serotonergic system in suicidal behavior. *J. Psychiatric Res.* 37:375–86
- Arango V, Underwood MD, Boldrini M, Tamir H, Kassir SA, et al. 2001. Serotonin 1A receptors, serotonin transporter binding and serotonin transporter mRNA expression in the brainstem of depressed suicide victims. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 25:892–903
- Arato M, Demeter E, Rihmer Z, Somogyi E. 1988. Retrospective psychiatric assessment of 200 suicides in Budapest. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 77:454–56
- Asberg M. 1997. Neurotransmitters and suicidal behavior: the evidence from cerebrospinal fluid studies. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 836:158–81

- Asnis GM, Friedman TA, Sanderson WC, Kaplan ML, Van Praag HM, Harkavy-Freidman JM. 1993. Suicidal behaviors in adult psychiatric outpatients I: description and prevalence. Am. J. Psychiatry 150:108–12
- Balazs J, Lecrubier Y, Csiszer N, Kosztak J, Bitter I. 2003. Prevalence and comorbidity of affective disorders in persons making suicide attempts in Hungary: importance of the first depressive episodes and of bipolar II diagnoses. J. Affect. Disord. 76:113–19
- Bartles SJ, Coakley E, Oxman TE, Constantion G, Oslin D, et al. 2002. Suicidal and death ideation in older primary care patients with depression, anxiety, and at-risk alcohol use. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 10:417–27
- Baumeister RF, Leary MR. 1995. The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychol. Bull.* 117:497–529
- Beautrais AL, Joyce PR, Mulder RT, Fergusson DM, Deavoll BJ, Nigetingale SK. 1996. Prevalence and comorbidity of mental disorders in persons making serious suicide attempts: a case-control study. Am. J. Psychiatry 153:1009–14
- Beck AT. 1963. Thinking and depression, I: idiosyncratic content and cognitive distortions. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 9:324–35
- Beck AT, Brown G, Berchick RJ, Stewart BL, Steer, RA. 1990. Relationship between hopelessness and ultimate suicide: a replication with psychiatric outpatients. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 147:190–95
- Beck AT, Steer RA, Kovacs M. 1985. Hopelessness and eventual suicide: a 10-year prospective study of patients hospitalized with suicidal ideation. Am. J. Psychiatry 142:559–63
- Beck AT, Steer RA, Sanderson WC, Skeie TM. 1991. Panic disorder and suicidal ideation and behavior: discrepant findings in psychiatric outpatients. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 148:1195–99
- Beck AT, Weissman A, Lester D, Trexler L. 1974. The measurement of pessimism: the Hopelessness Scale. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 42:861–65
- Bedrosian RC, Beck AT. 1979. Cognitive

aspects of suicidal behavior. Suicide Life Threat. Behav. 2:87-96

- Bennett PJ, McMahon WM, Watabe J, Achilles J, Bacon M, et al. 2000. Tryptophan hydroxylase polymorphisms in suicide victims. *Psychiatr. Genet.* 10:13–17
- Bertolote JM, Fleischmann A, De Leo D, Wasserman D. 2003. Suicide and mental disorders: Do we know enough? Br. J. Psychiatry 183:382–83
- Black DW. 1988. Mortality in schizophrenia the Iowa Record Linkage Study: a comparison with general population mortality. *Psychosomatics* 29:55–60
- Black DW, Winokur G. 1988. Age, mortality, and chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 1:267-72
- Bland RC, Newman SC, Thompson AH, Dyck RJ. 1998. Psychiatric disorders in the population and in prisoners. *Int. J. Law Psychiatry* 21:273–79
- Bleuler E. 1911/1987. Dementia Praecox. Madison, CT: Int. Univ. Press
- Borges G, Walters EE, Kessler RC. 2000. Associations of substance use, abuse, and dependence with subsequent suicidal behaviour. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 151:781–89
- Bostwick JM, Pankratz VS. 2000. Affective disorders and suicide risk: a reexamination. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 157:1925–32
- Breier A, Astrachan BM. 1984. Characterization of schizophrenic patients who commit suicide. Am. J. Psychiatry 141:206–9
- Brent DA, Johnson BA, Perper JA, Conolly J, Bridge J, et al. 1994. Personality disorder, personality traits, impulsive violence, and completed suicide in adolescents. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 33:1080– 86
- Brent DA, Oquendo M, Birmaher B, Greenhill L, Kolko D, et al. 2002. Familial pathways to early-onset suicide attempt: risk for suicidal behavior in offspring of mood-disordered suicide attempters. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 59:801–7
- Brent DA, Oquendo M, Birmaher B, Greenhill L, Kolko D, et al. 2003. Peripubertal suicide attempts in offspring of suicide attempters

with siblings concordant for suicidal behavior. Am. J. Psychiatry 160:1486-93

- Brent DA, Perper JA, Goldstein CE, Kolko DJ, Allan MJ, et al. 1988. Risk factors in adolescent suicide: a comparison of adolescent suicide victims with suicidal inpatients. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 45:581–88
- Brown MZ, Comtois KA, Linehan MM. 2002. Reasons for suicide attempts and nonsuicidal self-injury in women with borderline personality disorder. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 111:198– 202
- Brown RM, Dahlen E, Mills C, Rick J, Biblarz A. 1999. Evaluation of an evolutionary model of self-preservation and self-destruction. Suicide Life Threat. Behav. 29:58–71
- Bulik CM, Carpenter LL, Kupfer DJ, Frank E. 1990. Features associated with suicide attempts in recurrent major depression. J. Affect. Disord. 18:29–37
- Caldwell CB, Gottesman II. 1990. Schizophrenics kill themselves too: a review of risk factors for suicide. *Schizophr. Bull.* 16:571– 89
- Chen YW, Dilsaver S. 1996. Lifetime rates of suicide attempts among subjects with bipolar and unipolar disorders relative to subjects with other axis I disorders. *Society Biol. Psychiatry* 39:896–99
- Cheng ATA. 1995. Mental illness and suicide. Br. J. Psychiatry 170:441-46
- Chioqueta AP, Stiles TC. 2003. Suicide risk in outpatients with specific mood and anxiety disorders. *Crisis* 24:105–12
- Coccaro EF, Siever LJ, Klar HM, Maurer G, Cochrane K, et al. 1989. Serotonergic studies in patients with affective and personality disorders: correlates with suicidal and impulsive aggressive behavior. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 46:587–99
- Cohen LJ, Test MA, Brown RL. 1990. Suicide and schizophrenia: data from a prospective community treatment study. Am. J. Psychiatry 147:602-7
- Conner KR, Duberstein PR, Conwell Y, Caine ED. 2003. Reactive aggression and suicide: theory and evidence. *Aggress. Violent Behav.* 8:413–32

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

- Conner KR, Duberstein PR, Conwell Y, Seidlitz L, Caine ED. 2001. Psychological vulnerability to completed suicide: a review of empirical studies. *Suicide Life Threat. Behav.* 31:367–85
- Conwell Y, Duberstein PR, Cox C, Herrmann JH, Forbes NT, Caine ED. 1996. Relationships of age and Axis I diagnoses in victims of completed suicide: a psychological autopsy study. Am. J. Psychiatry 153:1001– 8
- Correa H, Duval F, Mokrani M-C, Bailey P, Tremeau F, et al. 2000. Prolactin response to d-fenfluramine and suicidal behavior in depressed patients. *Psychiatry Res.* 93:189–99
- Coryell W, Schlesser M. 2001. The dexamethasone suppression test and suicide prediction. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 158:748–53
- Courtet P, Picot M-C, Bellivier F, Torres S, Jollant F, et al. 2004. Serotonin transporter gene may be involved in short-term risk of subsequent suicide attempts. *Biol. Psychiatry* 55:46–51
- Cox BJ, Direnfeld DM, Swinson RP, Norton GR. 1994. Suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in panic disorder and social phobia. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 151:882–87
- Cremniter D, Jamain S, Kollenbach K, Alvarez J-C, Lecrubier Y, et al. 1999. CSF 5-HIAA levels are lower in impulsive as compared to nonimpulsive violent suicide attempters and control subjects. *Biol. Psychiatry* 45:1572– 79
- Darke S, Ross J. 1997. Polydrug dependence and psychiatric comorbidity among heroin injectors. Drug Alcohol Depend. 48:135–41
- Darke S, Ross J. 2001. The relationship between suicide and overdose among methadone maintenance patients in Sydney, Australia. *Addiction* 96:1443–53
- deCatanzaro D. 1995. Reproductive status, family interactions, and suicidal ideation: surveys of the general public and high-risk groups. *Ethol. Sociobiol.* 16:385–94
- Dodge KA, Coie JD. 1987. Social-informationprocessing factors in reactive and proactive aggression in children's peer groups. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 53:1146–58

- Dolan M, Anderson IM, Deakin JFW. 2001. Relationship between 5-HT function and impulsivity and aggression in male offenders with personality disorders. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 178:352–59
- Drake RE, Cotton PG. 1986. Depression, hopelessness and suicide in chronic schizophrenia. Br. J. Psychiatry 148:554–59
- Driessen M, Veltrup C, Weer J, Joh U, Wetterling T, Dilling H. 1998. Psychiatric comorbidity, suicidal behavior and suicidal ideation in alcoholics seeking treatment. Addiction 93:889–94
- Du L, Faludi G, Palkovits M, Demeter E, Bakish D, et al. 1999. Frequency of long allele in serotonin transporter gene is increased in depressed suicide victims. *Biol. Psychiatry* 46:196–201
- Dunner DL, Gershon ES, Goodwin FK. 1976. Heritable factors in the severity of affective illness. *Biol. Psychiatry* 11:31–42
- DuRand CJ, Burtka GJ, Haycox JA, Smith JA. 1995. A quarter century of suicide in a major urban jail: implications for community psychiatry. Am. J. Psychiatry 152:1077–80
- Durkheim E. 1897. Le Suicide: Etude de Socologie. Paris: Alcan
- Duval F, Mokrani M-C, Correa H, Bailey P, Valdebenito M, et al. 2001. Lack of effect of HPA axis hyperactivity on hormonal responses to d-fenfluramine in major depressed patients: implications for pathogenesis of suicidal behaviour. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 26:521–37
- Dyer JA, Kreitman N. 1984. Hopelessness, depression, and suicide intent in parasuicide. Br. J. Psychiatry 144:127–33
- Egeland J, Sussex J. 1985. Suicide and family loading for affective disorders. JAMA 254:915-18
- Endicott J, Nee J, Andereasen N, Clayton P, Keller M, Coryell W. 1985. Bipolar II: combine or keep separate? *J. Affect. Disord.* 8:17– 28
- Falloon I, Talbot R. 1981. Persistent auditory hallucinations: coping mechanisms and implications for management. *Psychol. Med.* 11:329–39

- Felthous AR. 1997. Does "isolation" cause jail suicides? J. Am. Acad. Psychiatry Law 25:285–94
- Fenton WS, McGlashan TH, Vistor BJ, Blyer CR. 1997. Symptoms, subtype, and suicidality in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 154:199–204
- Filiberti A, Ripamonti C, Totis A, Ventafridda V, De Conno F, et al. 2001. Characteristics of terminal cancer patients who committed suicide during a home palliative care program. *J. Pain Symptom Manage*. 22:544–53
- Freidman RC, Aronoff MS, Clarkin JF, Corn R, Hurt SW. 1983. History of suicidal behavior in depressed borderline inpatients. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 140:1023–26
- Fu Q, Heath AC, Bucholz KK, Nelson EC, Glowinski AL, et al. 2002. A twin study of genetic and environmental influences on suicidability in men. *Psychol. Med.* 32:11–24
- Glowinski AL, Bucholz KK, Nelson EC, Fu Q, Madden PAF, et al. 2001. Suicide attempts in an adolescent female twin sample. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 40:1300–7
- Goodwin FK, Jamison KR. 1990. Manic-Depressive Illness. New York: Oxford
- Gorwood P. 2001. Biological markers for suicidal behavior in alcohol dependence. *Eur. Psychiatry* 16:410–17
- Groholt B, Ekeberg O, Wichstrom L, Haldorsen T. 2000. Young suicide attempters: a comparison between a clinical and an epidemiological sample. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 9:868–75
- Grunebaum MF, Oquendo MA, Harkavy-Friedman JM, Ellis SP, Li S, et al. 2001. Delusions and suicidality. Am. J. Psychiatry 158:742–47
- Gunderson D. 1984. *Borderline Personality Disorder.* Washington, DC: Am. Psychiatric Press
- Harlow KC. 1990. Patterns of rates of mortality from narcotics and cocaine overdose in Texas, 1978–1987. *Public Health Rep.* 105:455–62
- Harris EC, Barraclough B. 1997. Suicide as an outcome for mental disorders. Br. J. Psychiatry 170:205–28

- Hassan R. 1995. Suicide Explained. The Australian Experience. Melbourne: Melbourne Univ. Press
- Hastings M, Northman L, Tangney J. 2000. Shame, guilt, and suicide. In *Suicide Science*, ed. T Joiner, MD Rudd, pp. 67–79. Boston: Kluwer Acad.
- Hawton K. 1987. Assessment of suicide risk. Br. J. Psychiatry 150:145-53
- Hayes LM, Kajdan B. 1981. And Darkness Closes In... National Study of Jail Suicides. Washington, DC: Natl. Cent. Inst. Altern.
- Heila H, Isometsa ET, Henriksson MM, Heikkinen ME, Marttunen MJ, Lonnqvist JK. 1997. Suicide and schizophrenia: a nationwide psychological autopsy study on age- and sexspecific clinical characteristics of 92 suicide victims with schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 154:1235-42
- Henriksson MM, Aro HM, Marttunen MJ, Heikkinen ME, Isometsa ET, et al. 1993. Mental disorders and comorbidity in suicide. Am. J. Psychiatry 150:935–40
- Herzog DB, Greenwood DN, Dorer DJ, Flores AT, Ekeblad ER, et al. 2000. Mortality in eating disorders: a descriptive study. *Int. J. Eat. Disord.* 28:20–26
- Hintikka J, Jiinamaki H, Koivumaa-Honkanen HT, Saarinen P, Tanskanen A, Lehtonen J. 1998. Risk factors for suicidal ideation in psychiatric patients. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr: Epidemiol. 33:235–40
- Hoyer G, Lund E. 1993. Suicide among women related to number of children in marriage. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 50:134–37
- Inskip HM, Harris EC, Barraclough B. 1998. Lifetime risk of suicide for affective disorder, alcoholism and schizophrenia. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 72:35–37
- Isometsa E, Heikkinen M, Henriksson M, Aro H, Marttunen M, et al. 1996. Suicide in nonmajor depression. J. Affect. Disord. 36:117– 27
- Ivanoff A. 1992. Background risk factors associated with parasuicide among male prison inmates. *Crim. Justice Behav.* 19:426–36
- Ivanoff A, Jang SJ. 1991. The role of hopelessness and social desirability in predicting

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

309

suicidal behavior: a study of prison inmates. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 59:394–99

- Johnsson E, Fridell M. 1997. Suicide attempts in a cohort of drug abusers: a five year followup study. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 96:362–66
- Joiner T. 2002. The trajectory of suicidal behavior over time. *Suicide Life Threat. Behav.* 32:33–41
- Joiner T, Gencoz F, Gencoz T, Metalsky G, Rudd MD, 2001. The relation of self-hatred and suicidality in people with schizophreniaspectrum symptoms. *J. Psychopathol. Behav.* 23:107–15
- Joiner T, Johnson F. Soderstrom K. 2002a. Association between serotonin transporter gene polymorphism and family history of completed and attempted suicide. *Suicide Life Threat. Behav.* 32:329–32
- Joiner T, Pettit JW, Walker RL, Voelz ZR, Cruz J, et al. 2002b. Perceived burdensomeness and suicidality: two studies on the suicide notes of those attempting and those completing suicide. *J. Soc. Clin. Psychol.* 21:531–45
- Kaplan KJ, Harrow M. 1999. Psychosis and functioning as risk factors for alter suicidal activity among schizophrenia and schizoaffective patients: a disease-based interactive model. Suicide Life Threat. Behav. 29:10–24
- Kaslow NJ, Thompson MP, Okun A, Price A, Young S, et al. 2002. Risk and protective factors for suicidal behavior in abused African American women. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 70:311–19
- Keel PK, Dorer DJ. Eddy KT, Franko D, Charatan DL, Herzog DB. 2003. Predictors of mortality in eating disorders. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 60:179–83
- Kemperman I, Russ MJ, Shearin E. 1997. Self-injurious behavior and mood regulation in borderline patients. J. Personal. Disord. 11:146–57
- Kennedy HG, Iveson RCY, Hill O. 1999. Violence, homicide and suicide: strong correlation and wide variation across districts. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 175:462–66
- Kessler RC, Borges G, Walters EE. 1999. Prevalence of and risk factors for lifetime suicide

attempts in the National Comorbidity Survey. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 56:617–33

- Khan A, Leventhal RM, Khan S, Brown WA, 2002. Suicide risk in patients with anxiety disorders: a meta-analysis of the FDA database. *J. Affect. Disord.* 68:183–90
- Koller G, Preub UW, Bottlender M, Wenzel K, Soyka M. 2002. Impulsivity and aggression as predictors of suicide attempts in alcoholics. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 252:155–60
- Kunugi H, Ishida S, Kato T. Sakai T, Tatsumi M. et al. 1999. No evidence for an association of polymorphisms of the tryptophan hydroxylase gene with affective disorders or attempted suicide among Japanese patients. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 156:774–76
- Lesch KP. Bengel D. Heils A. Sabol SZ, Greenberg BD, et al. 1996. Association of anxietyrelated traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene regulatory region. *Science* 274:1527–31
- Lester D. 1992. The dexamethasone suppression test as an indicator of suicide: a metaanalysis. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 25:265–70
- Lester D. 1995. The concentration of neurotransmitter metabolites in the cerebrospinal fluid of suicidal individuals: a meta-analysis. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 28:45-50
- Linehan MM. 1993. Cognitive-behavioral treatment of Borderline Personality Disorder. New York: Guilford
- Lonnqvist JK. 2000. Psychiatric aspects of suicidal behaviour: depression. In *The International Handbook of Suicide and Attempted Suicide*, ed. K Hawton, K Van Heeringen, pp. 107–20. Chichester: Wiley Intersei.
- Magne-Ingvar U, Oejahagen A. 1999. Significant others of suicide attempters: their views at the time of the acute psychiatric consultation. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 34:73–79
- Malone KM. Corbitt EM. Li S. Mann JJ. 1996. Prolactin response to fenfluramine and suicide attempt lethality in major depression. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 168:324–29
- Mann JJ, Huang Y-y, Underwood MD. Kassir SA, Oppenheim S, et al. 2000. A serotonin

transporter gene promoter polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) and prefrontal cortical binding in major depression and suicide. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 57:729–38

- Mann JJ, Malone KM. 1997. Cerebrospinal fluid amines and higher-lethality suicide attempts in depressed inpatients. *Biol. Psychiatry* 41:162–71
- Mann JJ, Waternaux C, Haas GL, Malone KM. 1999. Toward a clinical model of suicidal behavior in psychiatric patients. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 156:181–89
- Marcus P, Alcabes P. 1993. Characteristics of suicides by inmates in an urban jail. *Hosp. Community Psychiatry* 44:256–61
- Marx A, Schick MT, Minder CE. 1994. Drugrelated mortality in Switzerland from 1987 to 1989 in comparison to other countries. *Int. J. Addict.* 29:837–60
- McGlashan TH. 1986. The Chestnut Lodge follow-up study: III. Longterm outcome of borderline personalities. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 43:2–30
- McIntosh JL. 2002. U.S.A. Suicide Statistics for the Year 1999: Overheads and a Presentation Guide. Washington, DC: Am. Assoc. Suicidol.
- Meltzer HY. 2003. Reducing the risk for suicide in schizophrenia and affective disorders. J. Clin. Psychiatry 64:1122–29
- Meltzer HY, Anad R, Alphs L. 2000. Reducing suicide risk in schizophrenia: focus on the role of clozapine. *CNS Drugs* 14:355– 65
- Meltzer HY, Fatemi H. 1995. Suicide in schizophrenia: the effect of clozapine. *Clin. Neuropharmacol.* 18:S18–24
- Messias E, Kirkpatrick B, Ram R, Tien AY. 2001. Suspiciousness as a specific risk factor for major depressive episodes in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 47:159–65
- Miles CP. 1977. Conditions predisposing to suicide: a review. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 164:231– 46
- Miller F, Chabrier LA. 1988. Suicide attempts correlate with delusional content in major depression. *Psychopathology* 21:34–37
- Minkoff K, Bergman E, Beck AT. 1973. Hope-

lessness, depression, and attempted suicide. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 130:455–59

- Motto JA, Bostrom A. 1990. Empirical indicators of near-term suicide risk. *Crisis* 11:52– 59
- Murphy SL, Rounsaville BJ, Eyre S, Kleber HD. 1983. Suicide attempts in treated opiate addicts. *Comp. Psychiatry* 24:79– 89
- Negron R. Piacentini J. Graae F. Davies M, Shaffer D. 1997. Microanalysis of adolescent suicide attempters and ideators during the acute suicidal episode. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 36:1512–19
- Nekanda-Trepka CJS, Bishop S, Blackburn IM. 1983. Hopelessness and depression. Br. J. Clin. Psychiatry 132:954–56
- Nielsen DA, Goldman D, Virkunnen M, Tokola R, Rawlings R, Linnoila M. 1994. Suicidality and 5-hydroxyindoleactic acid concentration associated with a tryptophan hydroxylase polymorphism. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 51:34–38
- Nielsen DA, Virkkunen M, Lappalainen J, Eggert M, Brown GL, et al. 1998. A tryptophan hydroxylase gene marker for suicidality and alcoholism. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 55:593– 602
- Nolan KA, Volavka J, Czobor P. Cseh A, Lachman H, et al. 2000. Suicidal behavior in patients with schizophrenia is related to COMT polymorphism. *Psychiati: Genet.* 10:117–24
- Noyes RJ. 1991. Suicide and panic disorder: a review. J. Affect. Disord. 22:1–11
- Oquendo MA, Placidi GPA, Malone KM, Campbell C, Keilp J, et al. 2003. Positron emission tomography of regional brain metabolic responses to a serotonergic challenge and lethality of suicide attempts in major depression. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 60:14– 22
- Overbeek T, Rikken J, Schruers K, Griez E. 1998. Suicidal ideation in panic disorder patients. *J. Nerv. Ment. Dis.* 186:577–80
- Papakostas GI, Petersen T, Pava J, Masson E, Worthington JJ, et al. 2003. Hopelessness and suicidal ideation in outpatients

312 JOINER ■ BROWN ■ WINGATE

with treatment-resistant depression: prevalence and impact on treatment outcome. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 191:444–49

- Perez-Smith A, Spirito A, Boergers J. 2002. Neighborhood predictors of hopelessness among adolescent suicide attempters: preliminary investigation. *Suicide Life Threat. Behav.* 32:139–45
- Pitchot W, Hansenne M, Moreno AG, Ansseau M. 1995. The dexamethasone suppression test in violent suicide attempters with major depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 37:273–74
- Pitchot W, Reggers J, Pinto E, Hansenne M, Ansseau M. 2003. Catecholamine and HPA axis dysfunction in depression: relationship with suicidal behavior. *Neuropsychobiology* 47:152–57
- Placidi GPA, Oquendo MA, Malone KM, Brodsky B, Ellis SP, Mann JJ. 2000. Anxiety in major depression: relationship to suicide attempts. Am. J. Psychiatry 157:1614– 18
- Placidi GPA, Oquendo MA, Malone KM, Huang Y-Y, Ellis SP, Mann JJ. 2001. Aggressivity, suicide attempts, and depression: relationship to cerebrospinal fluid monoamine metabolite levels. *Biol. Psychiatry* 50:783– 91
- Planansky K, Johnston R. 1971. The occurrence and characteristics of suicidal preoccupation and acts in schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 47:473–83
- Pokorny AD. 1983. Prediction of suicide in psychiatric patients. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 40:249–57
- Pooley EC, Houston K, Hawton K, Harrison PJ. 2003. Deliberate self-harm is associated with allelic variation in the tryptophan hydroxylase gene (TPH A779C), but not with polymorphisms in five other sertonergic genes. *Psychol. Med.* 33:775–83
- Potkin SG, Alphs L, Hsu C, Krishnan RR, Anand R, et al. 2003. Predicting suicidal risk in schizophrenic and schizoaffective patients in a prospective two-year trial. *Soc. Biol. Psychiatry* 54:444–52
- Preuss UW, Schuckit MA, Smith TL, Danko GP, Buckman K, et al. 2002. Comparison of

3190 alcohol-dependent individuals with and without suicide attempts. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 26:471–77

- Prigerson HG, Desai RA, Lui-Mares W, Roseheck RA. 2003. Suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in homeless mentally ill persons. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 38:213–19
- Prochazka H, Sjoegren M, Agren H. 2000. Oral d-fenfluramine test in treatment-refractory depression: plasma prolactin response compared in patients with and without suicide attempts and in a healthy reference group. J. Affect. Disord. 57:201–8
- Qin P, Agerbo E, Mortensen PB. 2003. Suicide risk in relation to socioeconomic, demographic, psychiatric, and familial factors: a national register-based study of all suicides in Denmark 1981–1997. Am. J. Psychiatry. 160:765–72
- Radomsky ED, Haas GL, Mann JJ, Sweeney JA. 1999. Suicidal behavior in patients with schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 156:1590–95
- Rihmer Z, Barsi J, Arato M, Demeter E. 1990. Suicide in subtypes of primary depression. J. Affect. Disord. 18:221–25
- Rihmer Z, Pestality P. 1999. Bipolar II disorder and suicidal behavior. *Psychiatr. Clin. North. Am.* 22:667–73
- Rihmer Z, Rutz W, Pihlgren H. 1995. Depression and suicide on Gotland. An intensive study of all suicides before and after a depression training programme for general practitioners. J. Affect. Disord. 35:147–52
- Rossau CD, Mortensen PB. 1997. Risk factors for suicide in patients with schizophrenia: nested case-control study. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 171:355–59
- Rossow I, Lauritzen G. 1999. Balancing on the edge of death: suicide attempts and lifethreatening overdoses among drug addicts. *Addiction* 94:209–19
- Rossow I, Lauritzen G. 2001. Shattered childhood: a key issue in suicidal behavior among drug addicts. *Addiction* 96:227–40
- Roy A. 1992. Are there genetic factors in suicide? Int. Rev. Psychiatry 4:169–75

- Roy A, Draper R. 1995. Suicide among psychiatric hospital inpatients. *Psychol. Med.* 25:199–202
- Roy A, Segal NL. 2001. Suicidal behavior in twins: a replication. J. Affect. Disord. 66:71– 74
- Rujescu D, Giegling I, Sato T, Hartmann AM, Moller H-J. 2003a. Genetic variations in tryptophan hydroxylase in suicidal behavior: analysis and meta-analysis. *Biol. Psychiatry* 54:465–73
- Rujescu D, Giegling I, Gietl A, Hartmann AM, Moller H-J. 2003b. A functional single nucleotide polymorphism (V158M) in the COMT gene is associated with aggressive personality traits. *Biol. Psychiatry* 54:34–39
- Runeson B, Åsberg M. 2003. Family history of suicide among suicide victims. Am. J. Psychiatry 160:1525–26
- Russ MJ, Lachman HM, Kashdan T, Saito T, Bajmakovic-Kacila S. 2000. Analysis of catechol-O-methyltransferase and 5-hydroxytryptamine transporter polymorphisms in patients at risk for suicide. *Psychiatry Res.* 93:73–78
- Rygnestad T, Stiles T, Bjerke T, Jorgensen P. 1992. Fatal and non-fatal repetition of parasuicide. In *Suicidal Behaviour in Europe— Recent Research Findings*, ed. P Crepet, G Ferrari, S Platt, M Bellini, pp. 183–90. London: Libbey
- Schmidt NB, Woolaway-Bickel K, Bates M. 2000. Suicide and panic disorder: integration of the literature and new findings. In *Suicide Science: Expanding the Boundaries*, ed. T Joiner, MD Rudd, pp. 117–36. Boston: Kluwer Acad.
- Segest E, Mygind O, Bay H. 1990. The influence of prolonged stale methadone maintenance treatment on mortality and employment: an eight year follow-up. *Int. J. Addict.* 25:53–63
- Shepherd DM, Barraclough BM. 1980. Work and suicide: an empirical investigation. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 136:469–78
- Sher L, Oquendo MA, Li S, Ellis S, Brodsky BS, et al. 2003. Prolactin response to fenfluramine administration in patients with unipo-

lar and bipolar depression and healthy controls. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 28:559–73

- Silver MA, Bohnert M, Beck AT, Marcus D. 1971. Relation of depression of attempted suicide and seriousness of intent. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 25:573–76
- Siris SG. 2001. Suicide and schizophrenia. J. Psychopharmacol. 15:127–35
- Soloff PH, Lis JA, Kelly T, Cornelius J, Ulrich R. 1994. Risk factors for suicidal behavior in borderline personality disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 151:1316–23
- Soyka M, Albus M, Kathmann N, Finelli A, Hofstetter S, et al. 1993. Prevalence of alcohol and drug abuse in schizophrenic inpatients. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 242:362–72
- Spalletta G, Troisi A, Saracco M, Ciani N, Pasini A. 1996. Symptom profile. Axis II comorbidity and suicidal behavior in young males with DSM-III-R depressive illnesses. J. Affect. Disord. 39:141–48
- Spreux-Varoquaux O, Alvarez JC, Berlin I, Batista G, Despierre PG, et al. 2001. Differential abnormalities in plasma 5-HIAA and platelet serotonin concentrations in violent suicide attempters: relationships with impulsivity and depression. *Life Sci.* 69:647–57
- Statham DJ, Heath AC, Madden PAF, Bucholz KK, Bierut L, et al. 1998. Suicidal behaviour: an epidemiological and genetic study. *Psychol. Med.* 28:839–55
- Stockmeier CA, Shapiro LA, Dilley GE, Kolli TN, Friedman L, Rajkowska G. 1998. Increase in serotonin-1A autoreceptors in the midbrain of suicide victims with major depression: postmortem evidence for decreases serotonin activity. J. Neurosci. 18:7394–401
- Stone M, Hurt S, Stone D. 1987. The PI 500: long-term follow-up of borderline inpatients meeting DSM-III criteria: I. Global outcome. J. Personal. Disord. 1:291–98
- Tandon R, Jibson MD. 2003. Suicidal behavior in schizophrenia: diagnosis, neurobiology, and treatment implications. *Curr. Opin. Psychiatry* 16:193–97
- Tangney J, Wagner PE, Gramzow R. 1992. Proneness to shame, proneness to guilt,

314 JOINER ■ BROWN ■ WINGATE

and psychopathology. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 103:469-78

- Trout DL. 1980. The role of social isolation in suicide. *Suicide Life Threat. Behav.* 10:10–23
- Tunving K. 1988. Fatal outcome in drug addiction. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 77:551– 66
- Turecki G, Briere R, Dewar K, Antonetti T, Lesage AD, et al. 1999. Prediction of level of serotonin 2A receptor binding by serotonin receptor 2A genetic variation in postmortem brain samples from subjects who did or did not commit suicide. Am. J. Psychiatry 156:1456–58
- Verona E, Patrick CJ, Joiner TE. 2001. Psychopathy, antisocial personality, and suicide risk. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 110:462–70
- Verona E, Sachs-Ericsson N, Joiner T. 2004. Analysis of suicide attempts in connection to externalizing psychopathology in an epidemiological sample. Am. J. Psychiatry 161:444–51
- Vieta E, Benabarre A, Colom F, Gasto C. 1997. Suicidal behavior in bipolar I and bipolar II disorder. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 185:407–8
- Vijayakumar L, Rajkumar S. 1999. Are risk factors for suicide universal? A case-control study in India. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 99: 407–11
- Vingoe L, Welch S, Farrell M, Strang J. 1999. Heroin overdose among a treatment sample of injecting drug misusers: accident or suicidal behaviour? J. Subst. Abuse 4:88–91

- Vitiello B, Stoff DM. 1997. Subtypes of aggression and their relevance to child psychiatry. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 36:307–15
- Warshaw MG, Dolan RT, Keller MB. 2000. Suicidal behavior in patients with current or past panic disorder: five years of prospective data from the Harvard/Brown Anxiety Research program. Am. J. Psychiatry 157:1876–78
- Weissman MM, Klerman GL, Markowitz JS, Ouellette R. 1989. Suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in panic disorder and attacks. *New Engl. J. Med.* 321:1209–14
- Westrin A, Niméus A. 2003. The dexamethasone suppression test and CSF-5-HIAA in relation to suicidality and depression in suicide attempters. *Eur. Psychiatry* 18:166–71
- Wetzel RD. 1976. Hopelessness, depression, and suicide intent. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 33:1069–73
- Wetzel RD, Margulies T, Davis R. 1980. Hopelessness. depression, and suicide intent. J. Clin. Psychiatry 41:159–60
- Yen S, Shea MT, Pagno M, Sanislow CA, Grilo CM, et al. 2003. Axis I and axis II disorders as predictors of prospective suicide attempts: findings from the collaborative longitudinal personality disorders study. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 112:375–81
- Young AS, Nuechterlein KH, Mintz J, Ventura J, Gitlin M, Liberman RP. 1998. Suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in recent-onset schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 24:629–34

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.